

Moog Components Group, Halifax Operations Focal Technologies Corporation 77 Frazee Avenue, Dartmouth Nova Scotia, Canada B3B 1Z4 Tel: 1-902-468-2263 • Fax: 1-902-468-2249 Email: focal@moog.com • www.moog.com/marine

Model 907

Diagnostic Software Manual



Part No. 907-0604-00 Rev. D February 24, 2011

Copyright © 2011, Focal Technologies Corp.

Restrictions on Disclosure

The information and data furnished in this document are deemed confidential and shall not be duplicated or disclosed to a third party, either in whole or in part, without the express written consent of Focal Technologies Corp.

Document Revision History

Document Revision	Details of Revision	Author	Date
А	Production Release (based on 700-0745-00)	T. Vey	May 5, 2008
В	 Updated format. Added more information on "Installation" section Added "Troubleshooting" section. Removed "obsolete" sections (Startup Display Backplane Activity, Switches, Auxiliary SFP Tabs, MAC Address) 	A. Cabrera	January 22, 2010
С	Updated to reflect new software revision (v2.0.0.0)	T. Vey	May 19, 2010
D	 Fixed minor typos and errors Added new graphics to reflect latest changes in software version 2.0 Updated "Network" tab information 	A. Cabrera	February 24, 2011

Reference Documents

Document No.	Description
700-0739-00	907 Diagnostics Protocol Manual: describes the underlying protocols used to communicate between the diagnostic card and the user application.
907-2039-00	Configuration drawing for the 907-DIAG-E diagnostic card: describes connector pin outs, switch settings, on-board diagnostic LEDs, and general specifications.

Table of Contents

1.0	Introduction	1
2.0	Installation	1
3.0	Application Lavout	2
	3.1 Application Usage	
	3.1.1 Connection Manager	3
	3.1.2 Application Notifications	3
	3.1.3 Connect and Disconnect Diagnostic Communications	4
	3.2 Diagnostics Data	6
	3.2.1 Stack Configuration	6
	3.2.2 Card Details	7
	3.2.3 Optical Data	7
	3.2.4 Diagnostic Card Onboard Data	8
4.0	Diagnostics via RS-232 Interface	13
5.0	Troubleshooting	19
	5.1 How to determine which versions of the .NET Framework are installed	19
	5.2 Failed Connection Attempt	19
	5.3 How to verify which IP address the 907-DIAG-E is using	22

Table of Figures

Figure 3-1: Application Layout	2
Figure 3-2: Connection Manager	3
Figure 3-3: Add a New Diagnostic Card Configuration	3
Figure 3-4: Application Notifications	4
Figure 3-5: Connection Status – Heartbeat Symbol	4
Figure 3-6: Connection Status – "Not Connected" Overlay	5
Figure 3-7: Stack Configuration – Before Connection Established	6
Figure 3-8: Stack Configuration – After Connection Established	6
Figure 3-9: Card Details (907+ Video Tab)	7
Figure 3-10: Optics Data	7
Figure 3-11: Optics Alarm and Warning Levels	8
Figure 3-12: Diagnostic Card Info	8
Figure 3-13: Diagnostic Card Voltages	9
Figure 3-14: Diagnostic Card Network Configuration Display	10
Figure 3-15: Network Configuration Editor	10
Figure 3-17: Diagnostic Card LED Configuration Editor	12
Figure 4-1: Windows HyperTerminal Configuration	13
Figure 4-2: Main Menu & Network Configuration	13
Figure 4-3: Voltage Monitor Display	14
Figure 4-4: Set IP Address Menu	14
Figure 4-5: Set IP Address Response	14
Figure 4-6: Set Net Mask Menu	15
Figure 4-7: Set Net Mask Response	15
Figure 4-8: Set Default Gateway Menu	15
Figure 4-9: Set Default Gateway Response	15
Figure 4-10: Set Primary DNS Menu	16
Figure 4-11: Set Primary DNS Response	16
Figure 4-12: Set Secondary DNS Menu	16
Figure 4-13: Set Secondary DNS Response	16
Figure 4-14: I2C Register Read Menu	17
Figure 4-15: Confirmation of I2C Read Operation	17
Figure 4-16: I2C Register Write Menu	17

Figure 4-17: Confirmation of I2C Register Write Operation	
Figure 4-18: Current Configuration Display	
Figure 5-1: Switch settings example	
Figure 5-2: Network Connections Window	
Figure 5-3: Local Area Connection Properties Window	
Figure 5-4: Internet Protocol (TCP/IP) Properties Window	
Figure 5-5: Ethernet connection, PC to 907-DIAG-E card	
Figure 5-6: Run Window	
Figure 5-7: Verifying IP Address Changes with Ping	
Figure 5-9: Serial Connection, PC to 907-DIAG-E card	
Figure 5-10: Connection Description Window	
Figure 5-11: "Connect To" window	
Figure 5-12: Communication Port Properties	
Figure 5-13: Main Menu	
Figure 5-14: Current Configuration Display Example	24
······································	_

List of Tables

Table 1: SFP Data Highlight Colors	. 8
Table 2: Voltage Highlight Colors	. 9

1.0 Introduction

The purpose of this document is to provide Model 907 users with information on how to install and use the Model 907 Diagnostic Software with the Model 907 Diagnostic Card (907-DIAG-E).

The Model 907 Diagnostic Software has been created by Focal Technologies Corp. as a sample software application with a Graphical User Interface (GUI) which is intended for assisting engineering and integration of diagnostics on the Model 907 platform. The Model 907 Diagnostic Software provides important information about the status of the optics, video and data channels of Model 907 cards.

Diagnostic readings are accessed through a 10/100 Mbps Ethernet port (RJ45 jack) or a 9600 Baud RS-232 port (3.5 mm stereo jack) on the 907-DIAG-E diagnostic card. The 907-DIAG-E card provides access to real-time diagnostic information from Model 907 cards that support diagnostics (e.g. Model 907Plus Multiplexer Motherboard (907+)). The 907-DIAG-E card is typically stacked on the console side of a Model 907 stack. Examples in this manual are for the Model 907Plus but are generally applicable to other Model 907 cards that support diagnostics.

Since this manual may be updated to include recent additions to card types or capabilities, please contact Focal Technologies Corp. for the most current revision.

2.0 Installation

System Requirements:

- PC with Genuine Intel Pentium or AMD processor
- 256 MB of RAM
- 10 MB of available hard disk space for the application and documentation.
- CD-ROM or DVD drive
- Supported Operating Systems (32-bit and 64-bit): Windows XP; Windows Vista; Windows 7
- .NET Framework (minimum version 3.5)

Notes:

- 1. A PC with an available serial port (COM) is required for diagnostics via RS-232.
- 2. To determine which version of the .NET Framework is installed in your PC see the "Troubleshooting" section of this manual.

Installation Procedure

- 1. Insert the CD provided by Focal Technologies Corp. in your CD-ROM or DVD drive.
- 2. Copy the "Model 907 Diagnostics v2 Desktop" folder to a local folder in your PC. For example: C:\Focal\Model907\Model 907 Diagnostics v2 Desktop
- 3. Open the "Model 907 Diagnostics v2 Desktop" folder.
- 4. Double click on the Model907.exe executable file to run the Model 907 Diagnostic Software.

3.0 Application Layout

Figure 3-1 illustrates the main functional areas of the Model 907 Diagnostics Software:



Figure 3-1: Application Layout

3.1 Application Usage

3.1.1 Connection Manager

The 907 Diagnostics Software supports simultaneous connections to multiple 907-DIAG-E diagnostic cards. The communication parameters for each card must be configured using the Connection Manager.

To remove a diagnostic card from the list, click the Market button to the right of the card name.



Figure 3-2: Connection Manager

To add a new diagnostic card to the list:

- 1. Click the witten at the far left of the Connection Manager.
- 2. Enter a Description, IP Address, Refresh Interval and Connection Timeout for the new card, as depicted in Figure 3-3. Also, select the Enable Auto Connect option if desired.
- 3. Click "Save Configuration".

Add a New Diagn	ostic Card Configuration
Description:	Diagnostic Card
IP Address:	192.168.0.100
Refresh Interval (ms):	200
Connection Timeout (ms):	1000
Enable Auto Connect:	-
	Save Confguration Cancel

Figure 3-3: Add a New Diagnostic Card Configuration

Note: The 907-DIAG-E card only uses static IP addresses. There are eight default IP addresses for a 907-DIAG-E card (192.168.0.100, 192.168.0.101, 192.168.0.102,...,192.168.0.107) and one "User-defined" IP address. In order to establish a connection between the 907-DIAG-E diagnostic card and a PC, the IP address of both devices must live in the same network. See the troubleshooting section 5.2 for more information about connecting your 907-DIAG-E card to your PC.

3.1.2 Application Notifications

Click the Notifications: (3) button in the lower left corner of the main window to view application notifications. Typical entries include connection, disconnection, and communication error events, but can also include various other informational messages related to application usage.

The current number of notifications is displayed in brackets.

Click the **Clear All** button to remove all current notifications from the list.

Click the **Close** button to hide the Application Notification window.

∕v F	ocal T	Technol	ogies: Model 90	07 Diagnostics [v2.0.4034.23931]		
Ν	/lod	lel 90)7			MOOG
	D	lagno	stics			
▣	V D	iagnost	tic Card 🔟			
$\langle \! \! \cdot \! \! \rangle$		Console	e Cards	Remote Cards	Console Motherboard 907+ Console	Remote Motherboard 907+ Remote
ation	Mo	otherboar 907 + (d I	Motherboard	taile	Card Details
nfigur		Diagno	stic Card			
k Con	•			-	Notifications	
Stac	Infe			Diagnostic Card : Connected		umber: 10011278
	ages			2/7/2011 3:41:06 PM		Code: 20100122
	Volt			il		umber:
		Bac	kplane 3.3V Ra	il		
	Netw			il		
	Le			_		
						c _4.79 (dBm)
						r _4,85 (dBm)
						s: 7.91 (mA)
						× <u>3.26</u> (∨)
					Clear All Close	
					Stop Data Refresh	
Notifi	cation	is: (1)				Zoom (100%)

Figure 3-4: Application Notifications

3.1.3 Connect and Disconnect Diagnostic Communications

start Data Refreshing to begin retrieving data from the 907-DIAG-E diagnostics card.

a Refreshing to disconnect from the 907-DIAG-E diagnostics card.

Note: The Start Data Refresh button changes to the Stop Data Refresh button after you click on it and vice versa.

When the "Start Data Refresh" button is pressed, the 907 Diagnostics Software will attempt to connect to the diagnostics card using the IP Address specified in the Connection Manager.

The Software adds an entry to the Application Notifications window after each connection attempt.

There are two ways to view the current connection status to a diagnostic card.

- 1. There is a "heartbeat" symbol next to the description of each 907-DIAG-E card in the connection manager. The heartbeat indicator can be used to monitor the connection status of all diagnostic cards at the same time.
 - a. When communications to a diagnostic card are active, the heart is green
 - b. When communications to a diagnostic card are disconnected or inactive, the heart is red



Figure 3-5: Connection Status – Heartbeat Symbol

Click

Click

2. When communications to the diagnostics card are disconnected, a slowly pulsing red overlay is applied to the main application window. A large "Not Connected to Diagnostic Card" message is displayed directly above the buttons used to start/stop data refresh.

🖥 Focal Technologies: Model 907 Diagnostics [v2.0.4034.23931]				
Model 907 Diagnostics		MOOG		
Console Cards Remote Cards 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	Console Motherboard 907 + Console Card Details	Remote Motherboard 907+ Remote Card Details		
Start 1.2V Rail: 1.19 (V) 3.3V Rail: 3.30 (V) Backplane 3.3V Rail: 3.29 (V)	Version: A0 Date Code: Assembly Number:	Serial Number: 10011278 Version: A4 Date Code: 20100122 Assembly Number:		
	Optics Temperature: 46.53 (°C) Rx Power: -5.52 (dBm) Tx Power: -4.87 (dBm) Tx Bias: 8.21 (mA) Voltage: 3.27 (V)	Opptics Temperature: 45.93 (°C) Rx Power: -4.88 (dBm) Tx Power: -4.85 (dBm) Tx Bias: 7.96 (mA) Voltage: 3.26 (V)		
No	t Connected to Diagnostic C	Card!		
Notifications: (7)		Zoom (100%)		

Figure 3-6: Connection Status – "Not Connected" Overlay

3.2 Diagnostics Data

After a connection has been established to a diagnostic card, the received data is formatted and displayed in the main application window.

Typically, the "Stack Configuration" is displayed in a list on the left-hand side of the screen. Diagnostic data for one or more cards can be displayed by clicking on the card description.

The data for each selected card is organized into a collapsible "expander" panel. An expander panel for any particular device contains a number of tabs for each sub-module within the device. For example, an Optics device might contain a tab for "Analog Data" and another for "Vendor Info".

3.2.1 Stack Configuration

When a connection is first established to a diagnostic card, the Software polls the system to determine which cards are present in the current configuration.

Before a connection to a diagnostic card has been established, the Stack Configuration displays "Not Detected" for each possible card location.



Figure 3-7: Stack Configuration – Before Connection Established

After a connection to a diagnostic card has been established, the Stack Configuration displays the card description for each supported card that is detected in the stack. Slots without detected cards are removed from the list.

 	Console Cards	Remote Cards
Iratior	Motherboard 907+ Console	Motherboard 907+ Remote
onfigu	Expansion Card 1 907 Serial	Expansion Card 1 907 Serial
Stack C	 Diagnostic Card 	

Figure 3-8: Stack Configuration – After Connection Established

Click on any card in the list to display diagnostic data for that card. To select multiple cards at the same time, hold the "CTRL" key while clicking.

3.2.2 Card Details

All supported cards have an "Info" tab displayed in the "Card Details" panel. The information displayed is typically the Serial Number, FPGA version, Date Code and Assembly Number of the 907 card.

The remaining tabs in the "Card Details" panel are specific to each particular type of card. Each 907 card model has a unique set of capabilities that dictates which tabs are available.

For example, a 907+ card supports a number of channels of onboard video and a number of channels of onboard serial data. Therefore, the "Card Details" panel for a 907+ contains "Video" and "Serial" tabs that display the status of each channel.

In contrast, a 907-GBE2 card supports two Ethernet ports and therefore contains a tab titled "Ports" that displays status information for each port.



Figure 3-9: Card Details (907+ Video Tab)

3.2.3 Optical Data

The "Optics" panel displays formatted data for a small form-factor pluggable (SFP) optical transceiver. The information displayed can be classified in two sections: Vendor information and Analog Data.



Figure 3-10: Optics Data

Alarm, Warning, and Measured values are read directly from the SFP device. The Temperature, Voltage, Rx Power, Tx Power, and Tx Bias Current fields are automatically highlighted based on the measured value compared to the Alarm and Warning levels.



Figure 3-11: Optics Alarm and Warning Levels

Hover the mouse over the measurement of choice to display the Alarm and Warning Levels.

Background Color	Indicates
Green	The measured value is within normal operating parameters.
Yellow	The measured value is between the High Warning and High Alarm thresholds or between the Low Warning and Low Alarm thresholds.
Red The measured value is GREATER THAN the High Alarm threshold or LESS THAI Low Alarm threshold.	

3.2.4 Diagnostic Card Onboard Data

The "Diagnostic Card" panel contains a collection of tabs used to display information that is extracted directly from the 907-DIAG-E card.

"Info" tab

The "Info" tab displays the Serial Number, Firmware Version, Date Code, Assembly Number and PCB Number of the 907-DIAG-E card.



Figure 3-12: Diagnostic Card Info

"Voltages" tab

The "Voltages" tab displays formatted data for voltages read by the 907-DIAG-E card. Measured values are read directly from the diagnostics board. Alarm and Warning levels are pre-configured by Focal Technologies and can be seen by hovering the mouse over the voltage reading of choice.

The 1.2V, 3.3V and 5V monitors show the voltage measured at three different on board voltage regulators that provide power to different components in the 907-DIAG-E diagnostic card.

The 3.3V backplane monitor shows the voltage measured at one of the pins of the backplane PC/104 connector of the 907-DIAG-E card.



The following figure shows the "Voltages" tab of the Diagnostic Card.

Figure 3-13: Diagnostic Card Voltages

The following table shows the meaning of the background colors of the "Voltages" tab.

Table 2: Voltage Highlight Colors

Background Color	Indicates
Green	The measured value is within normal operating parameters.
Yellow	The measured value is between the High Warning and High Alarm thresholds or between the Low Warning and Low Alarm thresholds.
Red	The measured value is GREATER THAN the High Alarm threshold or LESS THAN the Low Alarm threshold.

"Network" tab

The "Network" tab displays formatted data about the network parameters of the currently selected 907-DIAG-E card.

Important: An open connection to the diagnostic card must already be established before you can modify the network parameters of the 907-DIAG-E card. If you are not able to establish a successful connection between your PC and the 907-DIAG-E card, please refer to section 5.2 Failed Connection Attempt.

The following steps describe how to set "user-defined" network parameters on the 907-DIAG-E card using the Ethernet port.

1. Under the "Diagnostic Card" view, click on the "Network" tab to see the current network parameters of your 907-DIAG-E card.



Figure 3-14: Diagnostic Card Network Configuration Display

2. Click on the "Edit Network Configuration" button and enter the new network parameters in the "Network Configuration Editor".

Network Configuration Editor					
IP Address:	192.120.0.100				
Subnet Mask:	255.255.255.0				
Gateway:	192.168.0.1				
Primary DNS:	194.25.2.129				
Secondary DNS:	194.25.2.130				
	Save Network Configuration Cancel				

Figure 3-15: Network Configuration Editor

Note that in this step you can set a new "user-defined" IP address for your 907-DIAG-E card.

Before you go to the next step, it is recommended that you write down the new network parameters that you entered.

- 3. Click on the "Save Network Configuration" button to transfer the new settings to the 907-DIAG-E card. After you click this button you will be disconnected from the 907-DIAG-E card.
- 4. Power OFF your 907-DIAG-E card.
- 5. On the 907-DIAG-E board, change switch SW1 pin 4 to the "ON" position. This will enable the "user-defined" network parameters of the diagnostic card.

Before you go to the next step, you need to ensure that your PC is now in the same network as your 907-DIAG-E card in order to establish a successful connection between the two devices. For example, if you entered a new static IP address for your diagnostic card such as 10.110.0.120 with subnet mask 255.255.0.0 then your PC's IP address must have a 10.110.xxx.xxx format. You can use the **ipconfig** command in the Command Prompt to verify your computer's IP address.

- 6. Power ON your 907-DIAG-E card.
- 7. On the Model 907 Diagnostic Software, under the Connection Manager area, click on the description name of your 907-DIAG-E card.
- 8. Click the "Start Data Refresh" button to reconnect to your 907-DIAG-E card.

"LEDs" tab

The "LEDs" tab allows custom configuration of the seven on-board LEDs and of the connector header that drives eighteen external LEDs on the 907-DIAG-E card.

Note: The user-configurable LED functionality is only available on 907-DIAG-E cards with firmware version 22 and above.

Click on the "Edit LED Configurations" button to display the LED Configuration Editor.



Figure 3-16: Diagnostic Card LED Configuration Display

LED Configurations							
Onboard	LED_DIAG_1	I2C Device:					
Header	LED_DIAG_2	Console Motherboard [Fpga]					
	LED_DIAG_3	I2C Register Number:					
	LED_DIAG_4	6					
	LED_DIAG_5	Configuration Options:					
	LED_DIAG_6	8-bit					
	LED_DIAG_7	16-bit					
		Word Led OFF if Match					
		Bit-mask Led ON if Match					
		Mask:					
	1						
	Comparison Value:						
	0						
Import from file Export to file Load Defaults Transfer to Diagnostics Card Close							

The LED Configuration Editor is intended for system integrators. Please contact Focal for assistance.

Figure 3-17: Diagnostic Card LED Configuration Editor

4.0 Diagnostics via RS-232 Interface

In addition to the 10/100 Mbps Ethernet interface, the 907-DIAG-E diagnostic card provides an RS-232 port. Like the Ethernet interface, the RS-232 interface can be used to monitor on-board and backplane voltages, read and configure network parameters, and read and write to I2C addresses.

Windows HyperTerminal can be used to access the RS-232 data stream. The HyperTerminal COM port connection should be configured for 9600 baud, 8 data bits, no parity, 1 stop bit, and no flow control, as shown in Figure 4-1.

OM1 Properties		?
Port Settings		
Bits per second:	9600	~
Data bits:	8	~
Parity:	None	~
Stop bits:	1	~
Flow control:	None	~
]
	Re	store Defaults
	K Canad	

Figure 4-1: Windows HyperTerminal Configuration

When the 907-DIAG-E card is powered on, it will output a menu to HyperTerminal as shown in Figure 4-2. The data displayed upon power up includes the network configuration of the current switch configuration. If pin 4 of DIP switch SW1 is ON, the data displayed will be the user-configurable network profile, otherwise it will be the defaults assigned by the SW1 settings. If no display is shown, HyperTerminal may not have been reading characters at the moment the card was powered and "*Enter*" must be pressed to refresh the main menu.

To select an option from the menu, just press the number (1 to 8) corresponding to the command that you want to use.

🕭 907-DIAG-E - HyperTerminal Fie Edit View Call Transfer Help	
D 📽 🐵 🍃 🗉 🎦 🗳	
<pre>=== 907 Diagnostics Card - FW Version 24 === Select one of the following commands: 1) Diagnostic Card Voltage Monitor 2) set IP Address 3) set Net Mask 4) set Default Gateway 5) set Primary DNS 6) set Secondary DNS 6) set Secondary DNS 7) I2C Address Read or Write 8) Display Current Configuration -</pre>	
Connected 0:00:09 Auto detect 9600 8-N-1 SCROLL CAPS NUM Capture Print echo	

Figure 4-2: Main Menu & Network Configuration

Menu Item 1: Diagnostic Card Voltage Monitor

Selecting menu item *1* will issue a display of all monitored voltages from the 907-DIAG-E card as shown in Figure 4-3. The 1.2V, 3.3V and 5V monitors show the voltage measured at three different on board voltage regulators that provide power to different components in the 907-DIAG-E diagnostic card.

The 3.3V backplane monitor shows the voltage measured at the backplane PC/104 connector of the 907-DIAG-E card.



Figure 4-3: Voltage Monitor Display

Menu items 2 to 6 are used for 907-DIAG-E diagnostic card Ethernet port configurations. Details are shown in Figure 4-4 through Figure 4-13.

Menu Item 2: Set IP Address



Figure 4-4: Set IP Address Menu

Figure 4-5: Set IP Address Response

Menu Item 3: Set Net Mask



Figure 4-6: Set Net Mask Menu

Figure 4-7: Set Net Mask Response

Menu Item 4: Default Gateway



Figure 4-8: Set Default Gateway Menu

Figure 4-9: Set Default Gateway Response

Menu Item 5: Primary DNS



Figure 4-10: Set Primary DNS Menu

Figure 4-11: Set Primary DNS Response

Menu Item 6: Secondary DNS



Figure 4-12: Set Secondary DNS Menu

Figure 4-13: Set Secondary DNS Response

Menu Item 7: I2C Address Read or Write

Figure 4-14 and Figure 4-15 show how to use the RS-232 interface to directly read I2C values from cards in the console stack. First, select menu item 7, then enter in "*r*" to read. When prompted, enter in the I2C address to read from, in decimal (refer to the appendix of the *907 Diagnostics Protocol Manual* for a list of available register addresses) followed by the start-byte, and the number of bytes to read. Ensure the start-byte plus the number of bytes to read does not exceed 256.

🌯 907-DIAG-E - HyperTerminal		🍓 907-DIAG-E - HyperTerminal 🛛 🔍 🔍 🗔 🖂 🔀		
File Edit View Call Transfer Help		File Edit View Call Transfer Help		
D 🚔 📾 🌋 🗈 🎦 📾		D 🖆 🐲 🏅 🗈 🎦 🖆		
=== 907 Diagnostics Card - FW Version 24 === Select one of the following commands: 1) Diagnostic Card Voltage Monitor 2) set IP Address 3) set Net Mask 4) set Default Gateway 5) set Primary DNS 6) set Secondary DNS 7) I2C Address Read or Write		Read from i2C Rddress, or Write to 12c Rddress? Plasse Enter 'r' for read, or W' to write. Read Selected 12c address (Decimal) (ex. 52) (40) Byte address (Decimal) (ex. 52) (40) How many bytes to read (Decimal) (ex. 20) 10 How many bytes to read		
8) Display Current Configuration Read from i2C Address, or Write to i2c Address? Please Enter 'r' for read, or 'w' to write		Select one of the following commands: 1) Diagnostic Card Voltage Monitor 2) set IP Address 3) set Net Mask 4) set Default Gateway 5) set Primary DNS 6) set Secondary DNS 7) I2C Address Read or Write 8) Display Current Configuration		
meted 0:00:11 AVSTW 9600 8-W-1 SCROLL CAPS NUM Capture Print echo				

Figure 4-14: I2C Register Read Menu

Figure 4-15: Confirmation of I2C Read Operation

Figure 4-16 and Figure 4-17 show how to use the RS-232 interface to directly write I2C values to cards in the console stack. First, select menu item 7, then enter in "*w*" to write. When prompted, enter in the I2C address to write to, followed by the start-byte, the number of bytes to write, followed by the bytes. Ensure the start-byte plus the number of bytes to write does not exceed 256. Also ensure the register fields you have attempted to write to have write permissions.

In this example the 907-DIAG-E diagnostic card is connected to the 907Plus card and we have written to byte number 0xF9 (decimal 249) of the console FPGA status register, which is the writable byte-wide field controlling the over-ride enable for switch 1 and switch 2. Note that the text response "*Complete*" reports that the I2C write operation was successful; there is no explicit verification that the register address and byte address were writable and have therefore retained the new values. After a write sequence, it is good practice to read register values back to confirm they were written as expected.

🌯 907-DIAG-E - HyperTerminal	(477) - D <u>X</u>	🌯 907-DIAG-E - HyperTerminal	
File Edit View Call Transfer Help		File Edit View Call Transfer Help	
D 🖆 🐵 🕉 🗉 🎦 🗳		0 📽 🐲 🐉 🕫 🗳	
=== 907 Diagnostics Card - FW Version 24 === Select one of the following commands: 1) Diagnostic Card Voltage Monitor 2) set IP Address 3) set Net Mask 4) set Default Gateway 5) set Primary DNS 6) set Secondary DNS 6) set Secondary DNS 7) I2C Address Read or Write 8) Display Current Configuration		I2C address (Decimal) (ex. 52) 40 Byte address (Decimal) (ex. 96) 249 How many bytes to write (Decimal) (ex. 20) Enter Bytes to write, seperated by spaces You Entered 55 Writing to === I2C Adr: 40, Byte Adr: 249, Num of Byt Complete! === 907 Diagnostics Card - FW Version 24 = Select one of the following commands:	User Input
Read from i2C Address, or Write to i2c Address? Please Enter 'r' for read, or 'w' to write		 Diagnostic Card Voltage Monitor set IP Address set Net Mask set Default Gateway set Deiraut DNC 	Write Operation
		Set Frimary UNS Secondary DNS Secondary DNS Jizc Address Read or Write B) Display Current Configuration	Confirmation Message

Figure 4-16: I2C Register Write Menu

Figure 4-17: Confirmation of I2C Register Write Operation

Menu Item 8: Display Current Configuration

Selecting menu item 8 provides the current pin state of the 907-DIAG-E diagnostic card's configuration switch (SW1) and network configuration as shown in Figure 4-18. The pin state is consistent with the diagnostic card configuration drawing – 0 represents the OFF state, and 1 represents the ON state.

Í	🌯 907-DIAG-E - Hyper Terminal	
	File Edit View Call Transfer Help	
	D 🚔 📨 🌋 🗈 🎦 💕	
	Switch Pin 1:0Switch Pin 2:0Switch Pin 3:0Switch Pin 4:1	
	MAC address: 00-09-cc-08-00-76 IP address: 192.168.0.100 Network Mask: 255.255.255.0 Gateway: 192.168.0.1 Primary DNS: 194.125.2.130 Secondary DNS: 194.125.2.130 Serial Number: C3438 PCB #: 907-0538-00-R3.0 Assembly #: 907-0338-00 Date Code: 20090608 === 907 Diagnostics Card - FW Version 24 === Select one of the following commands: 1) Diagnostic Card Voltage Monitor 2) set IP Address 3) set Net Mask 4) set Default Gateway 5) set Primary DNS 6) set Secondary DNS 7) I2C Address Read or Write 8) Display Current Configuration	
	Connected 0:04:08 ANSIW 9600 8-N-1 SCROLL CAPS NUM Capture Print echo	.:

Figure 4-18: Current Configuration Display

5.0 Troubleshooting

5.1 How to determine which versions of the .NET Framework are installed

To determine which versions of the .NET Framework are installed on your PC, locate the %systemroot%\Microsoft.NET\Framework folder. To open this folder, you can paste this address into a Windows Explorer address bar.

If you see a folder with the format v3.5 or higher then you meet the ".NET Framework" requirement to run the Model 907 Diagnostic Software.

For more information about how to determine which versions of .NET Framework are installed on your PC visit Microsoft at http://msdn.microsoft.com/

The latest version of the .NET Framework is available from Microsoft at <u>www.microsoft.com/downloads</u>.

5.2 Failed Connection Attempt

The following may be useful in troubleshooting a failed connection attempt to the 907-DIAG-E diagnostic card.

- Power
 - The 907-DIAG-E receives power through its backplane PC/104 connector and it should be mounted on the 907 console stack.
 - The Power LED D10 on the 907-DIAG-E diagnostic card should be ON.

• Ethernet Cable

- Verify that the Ethernet cable that you are using to connect your PC and the 907-DIAG-E is in good condition.
- When connecting your PC and the 907-DIAG-E diagnostic card directly, typically an Ethernet crossover cable is used; however, some newer computers can also use an Ethernet straight through cable.

Network configuration

- To verify if the problem is related to network configuration try the following:
- 1. Temporarily configure one of the 907-DIAG-E cards to use one of the default IP addresses. The configuration drawing 907-2039-00 contains a table showing eight static IP addresses and their corresponding switch settings. For instance, if the four switches of DIP switch SW1 are in the OFF position as shown in Figure 5-1, then the static IP address of the 907-DIAG-E would be 192.168.0.100



Figure 5-1: Switch settings example

2. Set the IP address on your PC to 192.168.0.199 or to another IP address that is in the 192.168.xxx.xxx network.

If you are using Windows XP, you can change the IP address on your PC by following the steps below. If you are using another Windows release, the steps will be similar.

- a) Click Start \rightarrow Control Panel \rightarrow Network and Internet Connections \rightarrow Network Connections
- b) Find and right click on the active Local Area Connection and choose **Properties**



Figure 5-2: Network Connections Window

c) In the General tab of the window that will open, click once the Internet Protocol (TCP/IP) item, and click Properties.

🖵 Local	Area Connection	Properties		?
General	Advanced			
Conne	st using:			
шы	}roadcom Net⊠treme 5	7xx Gigabit C	Configure	
This co	nnection uses the follo	wing items:		
	Client for Microsoft N File and Printer Sharii QoS Packet Schedu Internet Protocol (TC	etworks ng for Microsoft N er P/IP)	etworks	
	nstall	Jninstall	Properties	-
Tran wide acro	smission Control Protocol area network protocol ss diverse interconnect	ol/Internet Proto that provides co ed networks.	col. The defaul mmunication	t
I Sho I Not	w icon in notification a fy me when this conne	ea when connec ction has limited o	ted or no connectiv	ity
		OK	Ca	ncel

Figure 5-3: Local Area Connection Properties Window

- d) In the **General** tab of the Internet Protocol (TCP/IP) Properties window, click **Use the following IP address** and enter:
 - IP address 192.168.0.199
 - Subnet mask 255.255.0.0

Internet Protocol (TCP/IP) Prope	rties ? 🗙			
General				
You can get IP settings assigned automatically if your network supports this capability. Otherwrise, you need to ask your network administrator for the appropriate IP settings.				
O Dbtain an IP address automatical	y			
Output Set The following IP address: ──				
JP address:	192.168.0.199			
Sybnet mask:	255.255.0.0			
Default gateway:	· · · ·			
Obtain DNS server address autom	natically			
• Use the following DNS server add	iresses:			
Preferred DNS server:				
Alternate DNS server:	· · ·			
	Advanced			
	OK Cancel			

Figure 5-4: Internet Protocol (TCP/IP) Properties Window

e) Click OK and Click Close on the Local Area Connection Properties window. Now you have changed the IP address of your PC to 192.168.0.199

3. Connect your PC and your 907-DIAG-E card directly via an Ethernet crossover cable as shown in Figure 5-5 (console and remote stacks are not shown).



Figure 5-5: Ethernet connection, PC to 907-DIAG-E card

- 4. Perform a "Ping Test" to verify the communication between your PC and the 907-DIAG-E card. To use the **ping** command you could do the following:
 - a) Click Start → Run
 - b) Type in cmd and click OK (This will open the Command Prompt).

Run	? 🔀
-	Type the name of a program, folder, document, or Internet resource, and Windows will open it for you.
Open:	cmd
	OK Cancel Browse

Figure 5-6: Run Window

- c) Type **ping** and enter the IP address of your 907-DIAG-E. For example, ping 192.168.0.100
- d) You should see a response from the 907-DIAG-E card similar to the one shown in Figure 5-7.

C:\WINDOWS\system32\cmd.exe	- 🗆 ×
Microsoft Windows XP [Version 5.1.2600] (C) Copyright 1985–2001 Microsoft Corp.	_
H:/>ping 192.168.0.100	
Pinging 192.168.0.100 with 32 bytes of data:	
Reply from 192.168.0.100: bytes=32 time<1ms TTL=128 Reply from 192.168.0.100: bytes=32 time<1ms TTL=128 Reply from 192.168.0.100: bytes=32 time<1ms TTL=128 Reply from 192.168.0.100: bytes=32 time<1ms TTL=128	
Ping statistics for 192.168.0.100: Packets: Sent = 4, Received = 4, Lost = 0 (0% loss), Approximate round trip times in milli-seconds: Minimum = 0ms, Maximum = 0ms, Average = 0ms	

Figure 5-7: Verifying IP Address Changes with Ping

- 5. If the "Ping Test" is successful, go to Step 7, if not go to Step 6.
- 6. If the "Ping Test" is not successful then you need to review your network connection again and verify that the 907 cards have not been damaged.

In general, each device in a network should have its own IP address. When using Internet Protocol Version 4 (IPv4), the IP address has a 32-bit (4-byte) number (e.g. 192.168.50.110) and it is composed of a network identifier and a host identifier. The IP address of a device can be dynamic or static. A device such a PC can have either a static IP address (assigned manually) or a dynamic IP address (e.g. assigned automatically via a Dynamic Host Configuration Protocol or DHCP server).

In general a PC can use a dynamic IP address as long as the assigned address lives in the same network as the 907-DIAG-E diagnostic card's IP address.

The 907-DIAG-E card only uses static IP addresses. There are eight default IP addresses for a 907-DIAG-E card (192.168.0.100, 192.168.0.101, 192.168.0.102,...,192.168.0.107) and one "User-defined" IP address.

You can use the **ipconfig** command in the Command Prompt to view your computer's IP address. If the IP address of your PC has a format similar to 169.254.xxx.xxx, that typically means that your PC is set to obtain an IP address automatically (e.g. via a DHCP server) and that this operation failed. To change the IP settings of your PC go to Step 2.

Note that in this case you are trying to communicate directly from your PC to the 907-DIAG-E card using one of the card's default IP addresses and therefore the computer's IP address must be in the same network (i.e. 192.168.xxx.xxx). Remember that your computer's ID (the last xxx.xxx digits) must be different from your card's ID. (E.g. PC IP address: 192.168.0.199 and 907-DIAG-E IP address: 192.168.0.100)

Once you have your 907-DIAG-E card and your PC in the same network go to the "Ping Test" Step 4.

- 7. Run the 907 Diagnostics Software.
- 8. Click the "Start Data Refresh" Button to connect to the 907-DIAG-E diagnostic card.

Refer to section 3.2.4 "Network" of this manual for details about how to change the 907-DIAG-E card's IP address to something different from the default IP addresses.

5.3 How to verify which IP address the 907-DIAG-E is using

To verify which IP address the 907-DIAG-E diagnostic card is using, you will need to make use of the RS-232 port on the card. The mating RS-232 connector for the 907-DIAG-E card is the round "stereo plug" connector shown in Figure 5-8. Refer to configuration drawing 907-2039-00 for more details.



Figure 5-8: Stereo Plug Connector

1. Connect the serial cable from your PC to the 907-DIAG-E card as shown in Figure 5-9 (remote and console stacks are not shown).





2. Power up the system and open Windows HyperTerminal. For Windows XP you can follow the steps below (instructions for another Windows release will be similar).

Click Start \rightarrow All Programs \rightarrow Accessories \rightarrow Communications \rightarrow HyperTerminal

3. Enter a name for your connection (e.g. 907-DIAG-E) and select the port that you are using on your PC to connect to the RS-232 serial port of the 907-DIAG-E card (e.g. COM1).



Connect To					
807-DIA	G-E				
Enter details for	the phone number that you want to dial:				
Country/region:	Canada (1) 💌				
Area code:	902				
Phone number:					
Connect using:	COM1 🗸				
	OK Cancel				

Figure 5-10: Connection Description Window

Figure 5-11: "Connect To" window

4. In the COM Properties window set the port properties as shown in Figure 5-12 (Bit per second: 9600, Data bits: 8, Parity: None, Stop bits: 1, Flow control: None).

OM1 Properties Port Settings			?
Bits per second:	9600		~
Data bits:	8		~
Parity:	None		~
Stop bits:	1		~
Flow control:	None		~
		Restore	Defaults
	ĸ	Cancel	Apply

Figure 5-12: Communication Port Properties

5. Click OK (the HyperTerminal window will appear) and press "Enter" to refresh the main menu.

🗞 907-DIAG-E - HyperTerminal	
File Edit View Call Transfer Help	
D 📽 🐵 🏂 🛍 🤭 📾	
<pre>>>> 907 Diagnostics Card - FW Version 24 === Select one of the following commands: 1) Diagnostic Card Voltage Monitor 2) set IP Riddress 3) set Net Mask 4) set Default Gateway 5) set Primary UNSg 6) TipS Ridondary Dig 7) TipS Ridondary Dig 8) Display Current Configuration -</pre>	
Connected 0:00:19 Auto detect 9600 8-N-1 SCROLL CAPS NUM Capture Print echo	

Figure 5-13: Main Menu

- 6. Press "8" to select the option "Display Current Configuration."
- 7. Now you can see the IP address of your 907-DIAG-E diagnostic card.

👨 907-DIAG-E - HyperTerm	inal	
File Edit View Call Transfer	Help	
🗅 🚅 🐵 🔏 📫 🎦 🖆		
1) Diagnostic Ca 2) set IP Addres 3) set Net Mask 4) set Default G 5) set Primary D 6) set Secondary 7) I2C Address R 8) Display Curre	rd Voltage Monitor s NS DNS ead or Write nt Configuration	
Switch Pin 1: Switch Pin 2: Switch Pin 3: Switch Pin 4:	0 0 1	
MQC_address: IP address: Network Mask: Gateway: Primary DNS: Secondary DNS: Serial Number: PCB #: Assembly #: Date Code: === 907 Diagnost	00-09-cc-88-00-76 192-168-0.100 255.255.255.0 0.0.0 0.0.0 0.0.0 0.0.0 0.0.0 07438 907-0538-00-R3.0 907-0338-00 907-0338-00 20090608 ics Card - F₩ Version 24 ===	
Select one of th 1) Diagnostic Ca 2) set IP Addres 3) set Net Mask 4) set Default G 5) set Primary D 6) set Secondary 7) I2C Address R	e following commands: rd Voltage Monitor s ateway NS DNS ead or Write	

Figure 5-14: Current Configuration Display Example